## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-23-2011

### Brannon v. City of Coeur d'Alene Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38417

#### NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from an election contest affirming the election. The district court found a three (3) vote margin between Brannon and Kennedy for Seat 2.

#### COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The election contest was timely filed following the election. A six day bench trial commenced on September 13, 2010. Judgment was entered on November 4, 2010. Brannon's motion for a new trial or amended judgment was denied, and this appeal was timely filed.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This election contest arose out of what the Chief Deputy Secretary of State labeled "a violation of the clerk's duty," failure to keep the mandatory absentee ballot record. Brannon and Kennedy were opposing candidates for Seat 2. The City delegated all election duties to Kootenai County (County). County employees conducted all aspects of the City's election. Neither the City, City Clerk, nor the mayor and council, performed their statutory duties. In conducting the election, the County failed to perform the City's statutory duties. The failures include: failing to prepare and maintain the required absentee ballot record,<sup>2</sup> failing to verify each absentee voter was lawfully entitled to vote,<sup>3</sup> sending out absentee ballots to nonresidents of the City following federal law instead of state law, and failing to compare the number of legal absentee ballots documented received by absentee ballot record to the number counted by machine.<sup>4</sup> The machine count reflected that 2051 absentee ballots were counted on election night. Upon receiving a request to review the statutorily required absentee ballot record three days before the scheduled canvass, the County printed its first

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tr. p. 444, l. 5-11. <sup>2</sup> Idaho Code § 50-451.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Idaho Code 50-445.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Idaho Code § 50-464, Idaho Code § 50-465.

absentee ballot record. This record documented a total of 2047 absentee ballots were received, however five "Voided" ballots are included in that number. The election clerk who prepared the record told her supervisor of the discrepancy the same day. The supervisor conceded she was aware of it, but claimed the first time she saw it was at the trial. Despite this discrepancy, no data comparison, and without investigation, the County gave the City the machine count to consider.

At what was called the City's canvass meeting the City only "accepted" the County's submitted number. The canvassers merely "rubber stamped" the number the County gave them. Kootenai County's Prosecuting Attorney was informed the absentee ballot record did not match the County total. The Prosecutor said he would investigate. On November 16, 2009 the same election clerk printed a second absentee ballot record. This second absentee ballot record again documented that a total of 2041 non-voided absentee ballots had been returned. The Prosecutor suggested that the person review of Chapter 20 Title 34 election contest.

The day after the complaint was filed, the attorneys for the City, County, and the other candidate for Seat 2 (Kennedy) met to devise a coordinated effort to defeat the contest.<sup>13</sup> The concerted effort continued even after the County was removed as a defendant.<sup>14</sup> The

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Plaintiff's Exhibit 5, p. 185. English confirmed, at trial, that this record did not Void one vote of a person, Harris, for whom two ballots were recorded as being returned. Thus the total non-Voided absentee ballots returned was 2041.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Tr. p. 293, l. 3-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Tr. p. 669, l. 1-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Tr. p. 101, l. 14-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> May 14, 2010 Hearing Tr. p. 41, l. 9-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Plaintiff's Exhibit 47.

Plaintiff's Exhibit 8A. See footnote 5 for further information regarding 2041.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Plaintiff's Exhibit 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Plaintiff's Exhibits 48, 50, 51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Plaintiffs Exhibit 55 pages 1-2.

County sought a protective order when Brannon sought to examine the City's election documents it held the County claimed the examination would cost "at a minimum, \$30,000.<sup>15</sup> On April 29, 2010, Brannon sought to review Beard's e-mails from Kootenai County. The County responded that its former election supervisor's computer had been 'cleared' and her e-mails "were not available." County's former election supervisor's computer had been "cleared" and her e-mails "were not available."

Brannon's investigator contacted two voters, Harris and Prior, residing in Hayden but who voted in City's election. Both persons stated they probably voted for Kennedy.<sup>17</sup> When their depositions were taken, they could not recall how they voted. At trial they both testified they could not recall.<sup>18</sup>

Brannon subpoenaed for deposition Ainsworth, a county resident who voted in the City election. With the goading of a Spokane newspaper's internet 'blog', he tried to turn his deposition into a circus. Ainsworth posted comments on a blog that he "voted legally and proudly for Mike Kennedy," that he intended to wear a 'Speedo' and an "I love Mike Kennedy t-shirt" to his deposition, and that he was giving his witness fee check to the "Mike Kennedy Defense fund." He posted "This is getting FUN:)" Ainsworth's deposition was cancelled to prevent this circus attitude from escalating. At trial, Kennedy stipulated Ainsworth voted illegally for him.

The court asked Kennedy's counsel if he wanted to discuss the bond amount. Kennedy's counsel responded that he would be making an application at a future date. The district court stated it would be happy to listen. Kennedy's counsel responded that he hadn't

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> R. p. 527-528. When combined with the initial cost order it would have cost \$70,000 to begin investigation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Plaintiff's Exhibit 98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Tr. p. 762-772.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Tr. p. 700-709.

done any calculation but suggested \$25,000.00. The district court set the bond at \$40,000.00. The district court set the bond at \$40,000.00. The district court set the bond at \$40,000.00.

J. Hosack granted reconsideration and made the City and City Clerk parties. J. Hosack ordered Sr. Magistrate Eugene Marano to conduct a physical count of all physically existing absentee ballots that were cast and counted in the election. This count occurred on June 22, 2010 under the direct supervision of Carrie Phillips, the sole custodian of the election absentee ballots. Philips opened the three marked locked absentee ballot boxes. She told Marano these absentee ballots "constituted all of the absentee ballots counted in the 2009 City of Coeur d'Alene General Election." Marano counted a total of 2027 absentee ballots. On July 2, 2011 Marano was asked to do another count. The County's former employee election supervisor, Beard, who was not and had not been the custodian of the election ballots since November 30, 2009, gave Marano additional absentee ballots to count. He counted seven (7). There is no evidence where these ballots came from. Phillips, the sole custodian of the election ballots, was not present at this count and didn't know about it until sometime after it occurred. On July 14, 2010 Marano was asked to do another count. Phillips handed Marano more ballots which she referred to as "duplicate ballots." Marano counted seventeen (17). There is no evidence where these ballots came from.

On August 5, 2010 Kennedy's counsel filed a motion for the district court to hold a non-party in contempt of court for posting a copy of his affidavit on the internet. The motion was supported by another non-party's affidavit who, after being served with a subpoena posted a comment on the aforementioned 'blog' that she was going contribute the witness fees to Kennedy. A hearing was held on the contempt complaint on September 7, 2010.

<sup>19</sup> March 2, 2010 Hearing Tr. p. 67-68.

Brannon's counsel was not in attendance but was told J. Hosack had made very disturbing comments. A copy of the contempt hearing transcript was obtained on September 11, 2010. After reviewing the transcript Brannon's counseled filed a motion supported by affidavit on September 13, 2010, because it was a bench trial, to disqualify J. Hosack from presiding on the grounds of bias and prejudice.<sup>20</sup> The motion was denied.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### 1. It was error to deny Brannon's motion to disqualify.

The standard of review is whether there was an abuse of discretion.<sup>21</sup> This issue is raised because in a bench trial the consideration of a motion to disqualify for bias or prejudice is critical to the fairness of the trial. It is the trial judge's province to make factual findings and discretionary decisions that impact the trial and its result that are only subject to deferential review on appeal. A trial court's discretionary decisions will only be set aside for an abuse of discretion.<sup>22</sup> There are numerous times during a bench trial when a judge, with bias or prejudice, will make findings, resolve evidentiary issues and determine the credibility of witnesses.<sup>23</sup> Rulings will be tainted by the judge's bias and prejudice and will significantly impact the trial and the judge's decision.<sup>24</sup> The right to due process under the Idaho and U.S. Constitutions requires an impartial judge.<sup>25</sup> The court trial was scheduled to commence on September 13, 2010. A motion to disqualify Judge Hosack for cause was filed on September

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> R. p. 2083.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Pizzuto v. State, 127 Idaho 469, 903 P. 2d 58 (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Arthur v. Shoshone County, 133 Idaho 854, 993 P. 2d 617 (Idaho App. 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> The district court determined that two illegal voters' (Harris and Prior) testimony was credible despite the fact that each told an investigator for Brannon, mere days before their depositions were to be taken, that they voted for Kennedy. At their depositions, and at trial, they stated they couldn't remember whether they voted for Kennedy or Brannon. Finding them to be not credible would have made the vote difference, even under the court's findings, one (1) vote.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Arthur v. Shoshone County, 133 Idaho 854, 857, 993 P. 2d 617 (Idaho App. 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510, 47 S. Ct. 437, 71 L. Ed. 749 (1927), U.S. Constitution 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment, Idaho Constitution Article 1 \$13.

13<sup>th</sup> prior to the start trial. The motion was heard immediately prior to the commencement of trial and denied.

In reviewing the denial of a motion to disqualify, the Court conducts a multi-tiered inquiry to determine: (1) whether the lower court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the lower court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with any legal standards applicable to the specific choices before it; and (3) whether the lower court reached its decision by an exercise of reason.<sup>26</sup>

<u>Discretion:</u> The district court did not state that he perceived the issue as one of discretion.

Boundaries of discretion consistent with legal standards: The district court did not identify or address the legal standards applicable. Once a motion is filed with an accompanying affidavit, the judge must pass on the legal sufficiency of the affidavit, not the truth of the matters alleged.<sup>27</sup> If the affidavit shows the objectionable inclination or disposition of the judge, it is his duty to proceed no further.<sup>28</sup> The demonstration of "pervasive bias" must be derived from outside of events occurring at trial, and it must be "so extreme as to display clear inability to render fair judgment."<sup>29</sup> The district court did not address the sufficiency of the affidavit. It never claimed the comments did not accurately state his opinions against election contests and procedures. The denial of the motion was not based upon any analysis. The district court chose to brush them aside by asserting that that they were made in a "proceeding that...has absolutely nothing to do with this case. So that's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Blanc v. State, 36294, 36295 (IDCCA); State v. Hedger, 115 Idaho 598, 600, 768 P. 2d 1331, 1333 (1989)

Berger v. United States, 255 U.S. 22, 41 S. Ct. 230, 65 L. Ed. 481 (1921).
 Berger v. United States, 255 U.S. 22, 35, 41 S. Ct. 230, 65 L. Ed. 481 (1921).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Idaho Dept. of Health & Welfare v. Doe, 150 Idaho 752, 250 P. 3d 803 (Idaho App. 2011) citing Bach v. Bagley, 148 Idaho 784, 229 P. 3d 1146 (2010).

how I can proceed." The district court's denial of the motion to disqualify made from the bench failed to identify any standards and didn't deny that the court held the opinions. The bias or prejudice of the district court is set forth in the transcript of the contempt hearings.<sup>31</sup> The comments beginning on page 30 of the September 7<sup>th</sup> hearing transcript are:

On the other hand, the Court has a concern in this litigation about the rights of the citizen voters. This type of litigation which may be and no doubt is and should be important in litigants has a ramification upon the average voter that in the view of this court is not a salutary connotation. And there's been arguments even made in open court that because this is an election case, a court should exercise extraordinary powers never used in civil litigation before in the history of American jurisprudence and haul citizens back at their own cost into court for a hearing for trial because they voted. That's very disturbing to this court. The wisdom of the American democracy is not delivered by the fiercely partisan voting. The wisdom of the American democracy is delivered by the average citizen that goes down to the voting place on the day of the election and votes as they see best to serve their community and does so out of public duty. Not because they have some crusade or some test point that they want to prove, but because they want to see their community work. To have litigation, publishing voters' names, calling in whether their affidavits are correct, whether they're legal or illegal, whether they can be hauled into court, grilled by a judge with regard to their votes, is an anathema to everything about our democratic process. So the secrecy, the confidentiality, the privacy of the voter is of paramount concern to the Court, and some apparent disregard of those issues by litigants or participants is of concern to this court.

The elements of democratic elections are concisely set forth in the U.S. Department of State Publication, USA Democracy in Brief (2008):

"Democratic Elections...

Whatever the exact system, election processes must be seen as fair...and, if necessary, institute procedures for...resolving election disputes."

The on the record comments are pervasive as the derogatory comments made by Judge Landis in Berger v. United States<sup>32</sup> regarding Germans. J. Hosack's comments were directed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Tr. p. 31, l. 18-20. Additionally, as will be shown below, J. Hosack's statements have everything to do with his rulings and decision in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> R. p. 2083.

<sup>32</sup> Berger v. United States, 41 S. Ct. 230, 255 U.S. 22 (1921) APPELLANT BRANNON'S OPENING BRIEF

at this election contest and reflect that he viewed it as "an anathema" to our democratic form of government.

A decision by an exercise of reason: The district court failed to make any effort to disavow his expressed views. It asserted Brannon's counsel had a "misunderstanding", the comments were focused on a proceeding that had "nothing to do with this trial, and that Brannon's counsel must have some "emotional baggage involved." No ruling on the sufficiency of the affidavit was made. Consistent with its earlier expressed perspective that "it's more important to make a prompt decision, frankly, than the right one, the goal to bring the perceived anathema to the election process to an end, the district court paid no heed to his responsibility to step aside, and moved on to the trial and his preordained outcome.

The district court's comments exposed its deeply held bias and prejudice towards election contests to be of such an extreme nature that they rendered him unable to render a fair judgment. The hearing transcript of the judge's biased and prejudicial view was filed with the disqualifying affidavit<sup>37</sup>. An anathema is something that is cursed, damned, greatly reviled, loathed, or shunned.<sup>38</sup> A judge holding such a deeply held conviction could not be impartial. Denial of the motion to disqualify deprived Brannon of his fundamental due process right to a fair and impartial judge. All action taken after the filing of the affidavit, including the judgment, are void.<sup>39</sup>

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### 2. The district court erred in holding that non-city residents are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Tr. p. 26, l. 10-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Tr. p. 31, p. 16-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Tr. p. 29, 24-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> June 14, 2010 Hearing Tr. p. 35, l. 12-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> R. p. 2089.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> R. p. 2060.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Lewiston Lime Co. v. Barney, 87 Idaho 462, 394 P. 2d 323 (1964).

# entitled to have their votes counted in the municipal election based upon the Uniformed and Overseas Citizens Absentee Voting Act 42 U.S.C. 1973ff et seq.(UOCAVA).

This presents a question of statutory interpretation over which the Court exercises free review. Brannon challenged the error that occurred when absentee ballots were sent, received, and even forwarded to non-city residents who had not even applied for them and to non-city residents not in the "United States service." The district court concluded that these non-city residents of the City were "Qualified Electors" entitled to vote in the Municipality's 2009 General Election. The district court acknowledged that, what it referred to as "the issue of UOCAVA votes," relates to alleged irregularities in the election process. This "UOCAVA" issue impacts I.C. § 34-2001 (1) malconduct sufficient to change the result, (5) illegal votes received sufficient to change the result, and (6) error in counting votes.

At least five (5) non-city resident and non-United States service absentee ballot voters (Paquin, Farkes, Friend, Dobslaff<sup>44</sup> and Gagnon) received absentee ballots that were counted in the election. The district court held the Seat 2 race was decided by 3 votes without deducting these non-city resident votes. These five (5) absentee ballot votes are sufficient to change the result of the election. It was established that none of the five (5) absentee voters resided in the City, none lived at the address which they claimed on their respective

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> State v. Doe, 147 Idaho 326, 208 P. 3d 730 (2009); Hayden Lake Fire Protection Dist. v. Alcorn, 141 Idaho 388, 111 P. 3d 73 (2005)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> I.C. § 50-402 (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> The most cogent examples of the district court's reasoning are set forth at Tr. p. 877-881 and the Memorandum Decision, R. p. 2279, 2282-2284.

<sup>43</sup> R. 2282

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> The district court only addressed four (4) in his memorandum decision. It ruled in open court on Dobslaff. APPELLANT BRANNON'S OPENING BRIEF 9

registration cards as their "residence," and none of them could be found within Kootenai County for service of a subpoena on them.<sup>45</sup>

Of these five (5) non-resident absentee ballot voters only Gagnon had ever been in the United States service. At the time she received and she returned her absentee ballot she was not in the United States service. Additionally, Gagnon had never resided in the City. Her mother-in-law testified Gagnon's address was in Petaluma, California and that Gagnon had never resided in the City. Gagnon's only connection to the City was that she was married to a person in the U.S. Coast Guard. 47

Even if UOCAVA applied to municipal elections under the Idaho Municipal Election Laws, Gagnon would not be entitled to vote in an election in city of her "in service" husband's residence. No person obtains voting "residency" based solely on the fact of the marriage. Beard wasn't aware whether or not a husband and wife, depending upon where they had previously actually resided, would have different residences for voting purposes. 48 Under UOCAVA a person must be able to establish that prior to being in the "United States service," the person was a resident of the municipality for at least thirty (30) days. 49 The instructions for submitting a Federal Write-In Absentee Ballot, Standard Form 186 A (Rev. 10-2005) require that the applicable residence address is that of the absentee ballot applicant where the person "ACTUALLY LIVED" previously.

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