Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-17-2011

Brannon v. City of Coeur d'Alene Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 38417

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

ARGUMENT

Given the five vote margin, candidate Brannon could have asked for an automatic recount as allowed by Idaho Code §34-2309. That recount would have been the same as sought and finally achieved under the supervision of Magistrate Eugene Marano in late June of 2010. If candidate Brannon had been dissatisfied with the automatic recount, he could have filed suit. The automatic recount would have been paid for by Kootenai County.

Instead, counsel for Brannon filed a complaint on November 30, 2009.

Procedurally, the complaint was half right; Kootenai County was named as the lead defendant. However, the relief claimed was not allowable so the complaint procedurally was half wrong.

By the time this appeal is heard and decided probably in 2013, all of the issues will have become moot. Incumbent councilman Mike Kennedy will have exercised his option to either run for re-election or not, leaving an open seat.

On December 10, 2009 before any named defendant had appeared, counsel for plaintiff Brannon filed an amended complaint dropping Kootenai County and its officials as defendants and claiming that the City of Coeur d'Alene was solely and exclusively at fault and liable for all of the alleged errors in the conduct of the election. The amended complaint was now totally in error procedurally and remained such throughout the remainder of the case to final judgment.

On January 5, 2010, respondent Kennedy filed a motion for summary judgment with supporting affidavits asserting these double errors. Hearing was set upon the motion for January 28th, but on January 14th Judge Simpson issued an ex parte order vacating the January 28th hearing.

On March 2, 2010, Judge Simpson ruled that delegation to Kootenai County was proper and dismissed the city and its officials as defendants leaving Mike Kennedy as the only defendant.

City Clerk Susan Weathers was subsequently rejoined as a contingent defendant in the event that plaintiff produced evidence of fraud by the city contributing to the election.

Judge Hosack subsequently denied plaintiff's motion for reconsideration and denied plaintiff's motion for leave to appeal from this ruling. (June 14th.)

Counsel for plaintiff Brannon refused to recognize the ruling and declined to amend again to reengage Kootenai County. The case went to trial without the entity responsible for the election being named as a defendant.

The initial error in excessive sweep in trying to set aside the city election was not addressed until in Judge Hosack's Memorandum Decision. Pp. 15 – 17.

1.

<u>Delegation by the City to Kootenai County to Conduct the City Elections</u> was Entirely Legal.

The first on plaintiff's list of alleged failures is this:

- 25. The Defendants failures include, but are not limited to, the following:
- a. Illegally attempting to delegate the statutory election duties of Weathers, as City Clerk for the City of Coeur d'Alene, and the Mayor and City Counsel to Kootenai County and Daniel J. English and/or Deedie Beard.

Amended Complaint, p. 11.

The operative paragraph upon which counsel relies in Section 34-1401 is this.

Section 34-1401 . . .

School districts governed by title 33, Idaho Code, and water districts governed by chapter 6, title 42, Idaho Code, irrigation districts governed by titl3 43, Idaho Code, ground water districts governed by chapter 52, title 42, Idaho Code and municipal elections governed by the provisions of chapter 4, title 50, Idaho Code, are exempt from the provisions of this chapter. All municipal elections shall be conducted pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 4, title 50, Idaho Code, except that they shall be governed by the elections dates authorized in section 34-106, Idaho Code, the registration procedures prescribed in section 34-1402, Idaho Code, and the time the polls are open pursuant to section 34-1409, Idaho Code. . . . (Emphasis supplied.)

The underlined portion of the excerpt to §34-1401 was added as an amendment by House Bill 330 enacted along with House Bill 351 by the 1993 Legislature. Attached as Appendix B are the legislative proceedings attendant to House Bill 330.

The Statement of Purpose recited that the H.B. 330 was intended to make the city election conform to the dates, conform city registration to state registration, give both the county and city clerk registration authority and conform poll openings to state law.

Appellant's counsel misinterpreted "Exempt." The amendment was added because the Municipal Code had special provisions for voters and voting just as do school districts and water districts. "Exempt" is defined in Black's Law Dictionary (7th Ed) as follows:

Exempt, adj. Free or released from a duty or liability to which others are held – persons exempt from military service – property exempt from sequestration. . . .

p. 563

Cities were released from liability in the event that any election did not conform to some provision in Chapter 14 of Title 34. "Exempt" did not mean "prohibited from." Just as anyone who is exempted from military service may voluntarily enlist so may a city choose to abide by any or all of the provisions of Chapter 14, Title 34, particularly including the last paragraph of §34-1401:

A political subdivision may contract with the county clerk to conduct <u>all or part of</u> the elections for that political subdivision. In the event of such a contract, the county clerk shall perform all necessary duties of the election official of a political subdivision including, but not limited to, notice of the filing deadline, notice of the election, and preparation of the election calendar.

(Underlined was part of HB330 amendment.)

Rather than barring cities from utilizing county election services, the sponsors of House Bill 330 saw the bill as facilitating county election services.

The Statement of Purpose for House Bill 330 identifies at the bottom as "Contact: Shirley Mix, Association of Idaho Cities." In the final page of the legislative record is the Memo on House Bill 330 from Shirley Mix which contains this explanation:

There is only one change from last year's consolidation bill: city clerks have the option to conduct their city elections or to contract with the county to do so. That's an important option to city clerks, because their limited budgets require them to save taxpayer dollars wherever they can. In most cases, city elections cost less than do elections run by the counties. Many cities use paper ballots, for instance, while counties use more expensive methods. (Emphasis supplied.)

On November 3, 2009, Kootenai County provided full election services comparable to Coeur d'Alene for Hayden, Huetter, Post Falls, Fernan, Hauser and Rathdrum.

Idaho Code §50-429 provides the following which was new law created in House Bill 330: (2)

(4) The secretary of state is authorized to provide such assistance as necessary, and to prescribe any needed rules or interpretations for the conduct of elections authorized under the provisions of this section.

As evident from the letter from Chief Deputy Secretary of State Timothy A.

Hurst to Kootenai County clerk Dan English filed with the affidavit of Dan English

² As currently codified, the black letters following §50-429 read as to be effective January 1, 2010. However, the quoted wording above is part of House Bill 330 and is in §50-429 presently in effect.

on January 5, 2010, the Secretary of State had specifically approved the conduct of the city election on November 3, 2009. See Appendix C.

Finally, under the Idaho Code §50-404, the city clerk is given authority to have anybody to carry out the election:

50-404. Powers of city clerk. [Effective until January 1, 2011.] (1) the city clerk with consent of the council may employ such persons and procure such equipment, supplies, materials, and facilities of every kind he considers necessary to facilitate and assist in his carrying out his functions in connection with administering the election laws.

That is exactly what was done for the city council in Resolution No. 09-033 and the contract attached to plaintiff's Amended Complaint as Exhibits A-1 to A-6. The agreement sets forth the authority for the two governments to agree as follows:

WHEREAS, the City and the County, pursuant to the provisions of Idaho Code §67-2332, may enter into agreements enabling each to cooperate with the other to provide services and facilities for their mutual social, political and economic advantage; and . . .

In summary, three separate code sections gave the City of Coeur d'Alene full legal authority to delegate the statutory election duties to officials of Kootenai County.

The issue of delegation by the city to the county was raised in the city's motion to dismiss (December 16, 2009) joined by defendant Kennedy. Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss, February 18, 2010. At the hearing on March 2, 2010, Judge Simpson held that delegation was legal and granted the city's motion to dismiss:

District Judge Simpson:

However, I am going to find under 34-1401 that the last paragraph, based upon the following language, "A political subdivision may contract with the county clerk to conduct all or part of the elections for that political subdivision. In the event of such a contract, the county clerk shall perform all necessary duties of the election official of a political subdivision including, but not limited to, notice of the filing deadline, notice of the election, and preparation of the election calendar," et cetera.

And I note that under 34-215 exactly the same remedies lie against the county clerk as would lie against the city clerk under the municipal code. I find that the contract entered into with the City of Coeur d'Alene and Kootenai County was authorized under 34-1401. Accordingly, the Court is going to dismiss all claims against the City of Coeur d'Alene clerk and the Coeur d'Alene council members. The sole remaining defendant in the action will be Mr. Kennedy as the contestant or the incumbent whose election is being contested under 34-2008.

Transcript on Appeal Proceeding. March 2, 2010, pp. 63, L. 9 – 15; p. 64, L. 1 –4.

H.

Idaho Courts Have Never Annulled an Election

Idaho Code §§ 34-2001 et seq. provide the basis for challenges in city, county, state and other elections. With the sole exception of Idaho Code § 34-2001 A (bond election), the entire code sections §34-2001 through §34-2027 were enacted by the first Idaho Legislature in 1890 – 1891 and have remained unchanged to this date.

Plaintiff's amended complaint in Paragraphs 23 through 25 makes various allegations of election errors following which plaintiff states: "Cause of Action to Set Aside, Void All or in Part."

The labeling on the face of the Amended Complaint is the same:

Amended Complaint pursuant to Title 50, Chapter 4, to set aside, void, annul, all or in part, City of Coeur d'Alene, November 3, 2009 General Election.

In Paragraph 23, plaintiff asserts the right to appeal ". . . and obtain an Order of the Court setting aside, voiding, and/or annulling the said election pursuant to Idaho Code §50-406. "That code section allows for appeal, but says nothing about relief to be awarded by a court on appeal.

Paragraphs 24 and 25 again set forth numerous allegations of legal errors in the conduct of the election. After notations "Injunction" and "Bond," the amended complaint concludes with this prayer for relief:

"PRAYER FOR RELIEF"

"WHEREFORE plaintiff prays for relief from the Court as follows:

- 1. For Judgment declaring that the 2009 City of Coeur d'Alene municipal election is set aside, void, and annulled in total; and
- 2. For Judgment declaring the 2009 City of Coeur d'Alene municipal election for Seat 2 is set aside, void, and annulled;"

There has never been an Idaho Supreme Court opinion from the first in 1890 to the most recent, *Noble v. Ada County Elections Board*, 135 Idaho 495, 20 P.3d 679 (2001), in which the Idaho Supreme Court set aside, voided or annulled any election. To the contrary, this Court has continually admonished against any such drastic remedy and, even when ruling in favor of a challenging candidate, carefully limited review of election results to viewing the testimony of alleged illegal voters.

The very first case involved an election found to be entirely illegal, but the judgment was not to set aside, void or annul the election. *Chamberlain v. Woodin*, 2 Idaho 642, 23 Pac. 177 (February 13, 1890), a pre-statehood case.

The case involved the general election for sheriff in territorial Bingham County in 1888. Appellant had the most votes. Respondent sued.

The District Court held that illegal votes had been cast, deducted the same and declared the respondent as elected. The illegal voters were ". . . those persons who claimed to have withdrawn from the Mormon church just prior to the election." 2 Idaho at 647. he District Court refused to accept the withdrawal and the Idaho Supreme Court affirmed:

They (Mormon voters) also testified their reason for leaving the church was their desire to vote, and be endowed with all the privileges of American citizenship; that, while they had, two years prior, been denied the privilege of voting for the same reason, they had not until shortly before the last election been impressed with the gravity of the situation, and that the desire to change their status came upon them rather suddenly. While claiming they had acted in good faith, most of them admitted they still wore their "endowment garments." The general explanation of this was, they would wear them until they wore out, but one explained, "they will never wear out."

2 Idaho at 649 - 650.

Although the Court recited that ". . .the testimony shows the election was a farce," it did not annul the election but simply upheld the deduction of illegal votes to declare the non-Mormon candidate the winner. 2 Idaho at 648.

In 1899 in *Ball v. Campell*, 6 Idaho 754, 59 P. 559, the Idaho Supreme Court reviewed on appeal the complaint brought by the losing candidate for the office of clerk of the district court in Bannock County. The complaint alleged ".malconduct by the judges of the election in said Pocatello Precinct No. 2 . . .was fraudulent, corrupt, illegal, unlawful, and void, and the same should be set aside and annulled. . ." 6 Idaho at 756.

In that plaintiff Brarinon's allegations are primarily directed at absentee votes which were counted as if in a separate precinct, the relief sought is comparable.

The sole question before the Supreme Court was whether the action of the District Court in sustaining the demurrer to the complaint, (i.e., dismissal) was erroneous. 6 Idaho at 756. The Court sustained the demurrer:

The primary object of our election law is to secure the elector a free, untrammeled expression of his will concerning the matters submitted for decision, unnamed by intimidating influences, uncontrolled by corrupt or fraudulent practices; and, when the will of the elector has been expressed as required by law, such expression must not be set aside or negative for light or trivial causes. Before the court will assume to set aside the expressed will of a majority of the electors of a county or precinct, it should be well satisfied that there has been such a disregard of the provisions of law enacted for the conduct of elections as taints the entire poll with fraud. It is not every irregularity that will justify the court in invalidating the poll of an entire precinct. (Emphasis supplied.)

6 Idaho at 758.

The demurrer to this complaint was sustained, the prayer to annul the election not stating a cause of action. The demurrer meant that the District Court and the Idaho Supreme Court were ruling that a complaint that sought to annul an election did not state a cause of action even though it alleged fraud and corruption. 6 Idaho at 760.

Huffaker v. Edgington, 30 Idaho 179, 163 Pac. 763 (1917), was a suit challenging the results of a mayoral election in Idaho Falls where Edgington defeated Clark by nine votes.

Appellant cited a number of errors and sought to throw out all votes in Ward I. The argument was rejected:

While the vote of a precinct may be rejected in certain instances, it is a drastic measure used only in emergencies, and should not be resorted to whenever it is possible to purge the election irregularities without depriving citizens of their vote. Such action has the effect of punishing and invalidating the votes of loyal citizens in order to prevent the fraud and wrongdoing of dishonest persons seeking to vote illegally, and while in some instances it is justified, in this case the irregularities complained of were not such as to warrant the court in rejecting the vote of the precinct referred to.

30 Idaho at 186.

Throughout the opinion, the concern of the Court was not upon the illegal voters' votes but upon protecting against the disenfranchisement of innocent voters because of a mistake by election officers:

It is inevitable that mistakes shall occur in elections because of the inexperience of election officers, and sometimes the law cannot be strictly complied with, but where the will of the citizen legally entitled to vote is apparently correctly expressed, such mistakes or oversights as do not result in making the election uncertain will not be allowed to defeat the choice of the electors.

. . .

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